
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 

May 12, 2014 

 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 

7:04 p.m. at the Village Hall. 

 

Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, Scott Adams, William Cotey, Dan Donahue, Walter 

Oakley, Kurt Schultz, and David Semmelman. 

 

Members absent:  None. 

 

Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 

Planner; and Fred Chung, Senior Project Engineer. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner Adams, to approve the April 14, 

2014, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 
 

PC 14-10 North Shore Transit Inc. d/b/a Lakeside Transportation, Applicant 

  912 E. Park Avenue, Unit A 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Transportation and Warehouse use, 

including outdoor storage of vehicles use pursuant to such service, but limited to 

Transit and Ground Passenger Transportation, in order to allow the Lakeside 

Transportation school bus company to store their school buses in an I-3, General 

Industrial District. 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, introduced the request for the Special Use Permit.  He stated 

that the petitioner, North Shore Transit Inc. d/b/a Lakeside Transportation, is requesting approval 

for a Special Use Permit for a Transportation and Warehouse use, including outdoor storage of 

vehicles use pursuant to such service, but limited to Transit and Ground Passenger 

Transportation, in order to allow the Lakeside Transportation school bus company to store their 

school buses in an I-3, General Industrial District located at 921 East Park Avenue. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the site, previously known as the Mungo Industrial Park, is currently 

developed with a 254,085 square foot multi-tenant industrial warehouse building on 

approximately 21 acres of land.  He stated that the existing hard surface is comprised of broken 

bituminous and concrete pavement in the front and in the rear of the building.  He stated that the 

existing tenants include Harry Alter Co., Excelsior, Strategic Solutions, Harbor Town and UBox 

and that the Des Plaines River lies adjacent on the east side of the subject site. 

 



Minutes of the May 12, 2014, Plan Commission Minutes 

Page 2 of 6 

 

Mr. Smith stated that North Shore Transit has been operating a bus terminal on the premise 

without benefit of a permit since 2011, and that Village Staff has been working with North Shore 

Transit to compel them to submit an application for a Special Use Permit in order to bring them 

into compliance with Village Code. 

 

Mr. George Maurides, attorney representing the petitioner, stated that most communities would 

not require a Special Use Permit for this type of use in an industrial district.  He stated that his 

client, North Shore Transit, is highly regulated and inspected by the Illinois Department of 

Transportation.  He stated that North Shore Transit is one of the greenest companies in the 

business.  He stated that the Bridge Development traffic report included the traffic generated by 

the school buses.  He stated that their proposed parking lot layout includes spaces for both full 

size buses, smaller buses, and also for passenger vehicles.  He stated that the Village of 

Libertyville has required that they incorporate some office space inside the existing building that 

would serve the bus parking lot terminal. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that during the coldest part of the winter, North Shore Transit had staff start 

and run the buses while parked on the site.  He stated that they were asked to move the buses 

from the front of the building to the rear of the building, but were delayed due to the storage of 

snow to the rear after plowing. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that back when the property was owned and operated by International 

Harvester many years ago, the Des Plaines river was located differently.  He stated that the river 

has since then been moved further to the east. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that if their Special Use Permit is approved, they will provide full 

architectural drawings at the time of building permit application for the office space build-out. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that North Shore Transit currently parks up to 70 buses on site, but they are 

proposing a parking lot striping plan that could accommodate up to 132 buses.  He stated that up 

to 75% of the school buses leave the site between 6:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. to go on their school 

runs, but not all of them come back in the mornings. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that they will repair the parking lot on site and stripe it in accordance to an 

approved parking lot striping plan.  He reviewed the Standards for Special Use Permit.  He stated 

that regarding the cross access easement between TEC and Bridge Development, it is his hope 

that due to the single access out to Rt. 176 shared by both property owners that they can obtain a 

right of easement by necessity.  He stated that TEC is unwilling at this time to sign a revised 

cross access easement agreement with Bridge Development. 

 

Mr. David Miller, Traffic Engineer representing the petitioner, stated that he has updated the 

traffic counts from the October 2013 KLOA report done for the Bridge site.  He stated that the 

two counts are comparable.  He stated that 15% to 20% of the school buses are leaving the site 

between 7:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m.  He stated that 4 additional bus vehicles will turn west during 

a.m. peak and 8 additional bus vehicles will turn east during a.m. peak.  He stated that outbound 

left turn can execute the left turn in two steps by queuing up in the median before transitioning 



Minutes of the May 12, 2014, Plan Commission Minutes 

Page 3 of 6 

 

onto the west bound lanes on Rt. 176; otherwise, with queuing, the Level Of Service is an F 

grade for that particular movement. 

 

Ms. Lindsey Ayers, 1104 Ashbury Lane, stated they have already experienced an adverse impact 

caused by the school bus fumes and that she is concerned about the children that live on her 

street.  She stated that at one point the fumes had gotten so bad last winter that the Fire 

Department did a carbon monoxide level check on her property.  She stated that she has safety 

concerns regarding the pollution caused by the idling buses.  She stated that her pediatrician had 

provided a letter that outlines the danger of breathing the fumes caused by the school buses 

idling. 

 

Ms. Ayers stated that moving the school buses to the rear of the building won’t help the 

situation.  She stated that the trees along the river will be predominately bare of leaves in the 

winter and will not act as a strong barrier for the exhaust fumes.  She stated that they are in 

violation now. 

 

Ms. Karen Born, 1108 Ashbury Lane, she stated that the bus fumes have been an issue for over 

three years now.  She stated that she is more concerned if they add more buses. 

 

Ms. Diane Weitekamper, 103 Camelot Lane, stated that she is concerned about the fumes from 

the buses.  She stated that she appreciates the fact that North Shore Transit is a family business, 

but they should still comply with the Municipal Code. 

 

Mr. Logan Ayers, 1104 Ashbury Lane, stated that he is concerned about the bus fumes.  He 

stated that he wants clean air.  He stated that the Lakeside Transportation company has 

completed its trial run already.  He stated that when they called the police to complain about the 

bus fumes the past winter, they learned that they had 25 buses running.  He stated that the fumes 

can exacerbate poor health conditions.  He stated that many kids play in the cul-de-sac at the 

west end of their street which is only a few hundred feet from the school bus parking area. 

 

Ms. Denise Cortes, 1133 Ashbury Lane, stated that she is concerned about the fumes.  She stated 

that she has felt nauseated at times by the bus fumes. 

 

Ms. Helen Rectz, 1224 Ashbury Lane, stated that she wants an opinion from an Environmental 

Engineer regarding the pollution produced by the idling school buses. 

 

Mr. Jim Janousek, 1237 Ashbury Lane, stated that he is concerned about the increase in traffic 

and the pollution.  He stated that the buses currently block traffic as they come in and out of the 

site.  He asked where they were located before they started using this site.  He stated that they 

pay taxes and the Village of Libertyville should respond to their concerns.  He stated that their 

property values will be impacted by the proximity of the school buses. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked if the school bus company would consider using a bio-fuel.  Mr. 

Maurides stated that they have been using a bio-fuel for the last five (5) years. 

 

  



Minutes of the May 12, 2014, Plan Commission Minutes 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Commissioner Oakley stated that he would like to see more information from the petitioner that 

will respond to the pollution concerns. 

 

Commissioner Adams asked why the petitioner is going to increase the current number of buses 

for this site.  Mr. Maurides stated that they would probably top out at 115 buses as the maximum 

number although their parking lot striping plan would accommodate more.  He stated that they 

move 7,000 students per day. 

 

Commissioner Cotey stated that there might be a bus lot in Vernon Hills on Butterfield Road that 

is for sale.  He asked what the petitioner’s lease commitment is with the property owner TEC.  

Mr. Maurides stated that the lease commitment is for five (5) years contingent upon zoning. 

 

Commissioner Cotey asked what the current status is regarding the access easement shared by 

Bridge Development and TEC.  Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated 

that the 60 acre Mungo property was under single ownership up until a short number of years 

ago.  He stated that the west 40 acres was sold off to the Aldridge Corporation.  He stated that 

the Aldridge Electric Company now is located on the southern 20 acres.  He stated that Aldridge 

sold the northwestern 20 acres to Bridge Development who now has preliminary and final 

approval for their Planned Development and Plat of Subdivision waiting for the Village Board to 

adopt the ordinances. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that during the purchase of these two properties, that being what Bridge 

Development now owns and where the Aldridge Electric building is located, an easement was 

created to provide access to all three properties, the third being owned by TEC a.k.a. Mungo.  He 

stated that the easement comes in from Rt. 176 and follows the driveway entrance into the 

Bridge Development site and turns east to overlap onto the TEC property, then turns south and 

follows on top of the property line to meet the Aldridge Electric property. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the school buses do not follow the exact route of the existing easement 

because it lies further to the south than where the buses drive from the Bridge Development to 

the TEC property.  He stated that the current owners of the Bridge Development property have 

redesigned the easement location so that it will lie further north, this will enable Bridge to 

construct their east building. 

 

Mr. David Pardys, Village Attorney, stated that at the time that the property owner sold it to 

DPR, they did not specifically reserve the easement they are currently using.  He stated that the 

easement does not lie upon the path for which vehicles currently traverse, including the school 

buses. 

 

Commissioner Cotey stated that an opinion from an engineer regarding the environmental 

impacts should be obtained.  He stated that he is concerned about the impacts from the number of 

buses expanding. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman stated that he is concerned about westbound buses along Rt. 176 

attempting to turn left into the site and the traffic impact that that would have.  He stated that 



Minutes of the May 12, 2014, Plan Commission Minutes 

Page 5 of 6 

 

consideration should be given to capping the maximum number of permitted buses to reduce 

their impact upon the site and upon the residential neighbors. 

 

Commissioner Donahue stated that he would like to know if Lakeside Transportation has 

facilities located in other communities near residential neighborhoods.  Mr. Maurides stated that 

this site at TEC-Mungo has easterly prevailing winds, but that this site will have a smaller 

number of buses.  He stated that Lakeside Transportation has been storing buses on this property 

for almost five (5) years. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked the petitioner how they got away with occupying the site without a 

permit.  Mr. Maurides stated that they had worked with a broker with the understanding the most 

communities permit this type of land use in an industrial district without requiring a Special Use 

Permit.  He stated that the subject site has been zoned I-3, General Industrial District for a longer 

period of time than the neighboring Ashbury Land residential neighborhood.  He stated that the 

past winter was one of the coldest winters on record which prompted the idling of the buses for 

extended periods of time. 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that he is concerned about the increase in traffic congestion. 

 

Mr. Maurides asked what the proposed development is for the neighboring property.  Mr. 

Spoden stated that Bridge Development will construct two speculative industrial warehouse 

buildings approximately 200,000 square feet in size. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that they incorporated the Bridge Development traffic study numbers into 

their traffic impact study done by David Miller. 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that Mr. Miller’s traffic study indicates a Level Of Service grade of 

(F) for the northbound exiting traffic turning left (west) out of the site onto Rt. 176.  He stated 

that most of those were passenger cars.  He stated that it is very common when there is a 

driveway accessing onto a major road that waiting for a gap is not unique.  He stated that if a 

two-way left turn as suggested by K.L.O.A., then the gap wait periods may be reduced. 

 

Mr. David Miller, traffic consultant for the petitioner, stated that they were showing in their 

report 12 a.m. left turns onto Rt. 176 at a LOS at an (F) rate.  He stated that they were showing in 

their report 13 p.m. left turns onto Rt. 176 at a LOS at an (F) rate.  He stated that the projected 

numbers include adding 12 more passenger cars in the morning exiting, and 34 more passenger 

cars in the evening exiting onto Rt. 176. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked the petitioner where they differ in agreement from the DRC Staff 

Report.  Mr. Maurides stated that they are having difficulty addressing the cross access easement 

issue between TEC and Bridge Development. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked what environmental testing could be done.  Mr. Maurides stated 

that perhaps the Village of Libertyville could identify the appropriate environmental consultant. 

 

  



Minutes of the May 12, 2014, Plan Commission Minutes 

Page 6 of 6 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that he is concerned about the potential for polluted storm water 

run-off going into the Des Plaines River. 

 

Mr. Maurides stated that they are proposing bio-screens to be installed at existing outfalls on the 

site to be used to filter the storm water runoff.   

 

Chairman Moore stated that he is concerned about the level of bus exhaust fumes and the 

potential increased impact upon the local traffic.  He stated that he believes that the proposed use 

and its impact upon the adjacent properties would not be compliant with the Standards for the 

Special Use Permit.  He stated that it will be a challenge for the petitioner to secure the permit to 

remain located at the subject site and that it will be difficult for him to be supportive of the 

request.  He stated that this case should be continued in order to provide the petitioner an 

opportunity to respond to the given concerns.  

 

In the matter of PC 14-10, Commissioner Schultz moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Semmelman, to continue this item to the June 23, 2014, Plan Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

Ayes:  Moore, Adams, Cotey, Donahue, Oakley, Schultz, Semmelman 

Nays:  None 

Absent: None 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Plan Commission report 

for the proposed Humane Society organization is going to the next Village Board agenda.  He 

stated the proposed Mobile Vendor draft ordinance will be going to the Village Board at the end 

of the month. 

 

Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to adjourn the Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:58 p.m. 


